Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-4-2021

State v. Allen Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48244

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

After Johnny Allen pled guilty to possession of a controlled substance (methamphetamine), the district court sentenced him to seven years, with two years fixed. Mr. Allen appeals, and he argues that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

In March 2020, the State filed a criminal complaint alleging that Mr. Allen committed possession of a controlled substance (methamphetamine) and possession of drug paraphernalia.

(R., pp.7-8.) According to the Presentence Investigation Report (“PSI”),¹ the police detained Mr. Allen for a warrant from an unrelated felony case. (PSI, pp.4-5.) Investigators from probation and parole subsequently searched Mr. Allen after he was detained, and they found a container with methamphetamine inside on Mr. Allen’s person. (PSI, pp.4-5.)

Mr. Allen waived the preliminary hearing in his case. (R., pp.19-21.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Allen pled guilty to possession of a controlled substance (methamphetamine). (Tr., p.13, Ls.20-23; R., pp.24-32.) The State agreed to dismiss the possession of drug paraphernalia charge and to recommend a sentence of seven years, with two years fixed.² (Tr., p.5, Ls.4-21.)

At sentencing, the State recommended a sentence of seven years, with two years fixed, and asked that the sentence be executed. (Tr., p.17, L.21—p.18, L.23.) Mr. Allen requested that the district court retain jurisdiction (a “rider”). (Tr., p.21, Ls.14-20.) The district court sentenced Mr. Allen to serve a term of seven years, with two years fixed, consecutive to any other sentence that Mr. Allen had at the time of sentencing. (Tr., p.23, L.23—p.24, L.19; R., pp.41-44.) Mr. Allen timely appealed from the judgment of conviction.³ (R., pp.51-53.)

¹ Citations to the PSI refer to the 189-page electronic document with the confidential sentencing materials, titled “Confidential Exhibits Appeal.”

² In reference to the possession of drug paraphernalia charge, the Judgment of Conviction and Commitment states that “Count II is hereby dismissed pursuant to the plea agreement.” (R., p.42.)

³ Mr. Allen filed a motion for reconsideration of sentence in this case on November 19, 2020. In that motion, Mr. Allen requested leniency “due to his age and the issues described in his pre-sentencing materials, including the mental health report.” The State filed an objection to that motion on November 19, 2020. The district court subsequently entered an order denying Mr. Allen’s motion on December 2, 2020. Mr. Allen is not challenging the district court’s denial of his motion for reconsideration of his sentence in this appeal, so the documents associated with that motion have not been included in a motion to augment the record.

ISSUES

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it sentenced Mr. Allen to seven years, with two years fixed?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Sentenced Mr. Allen To Seven Years, With Two Years Fixed

“Where the sentence imposed by a trial court is within statutory limits, ‘the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion.’” *State v. Windom*, 150 Idaho 873, 875 (2011) (quoting *State v. Stevens*, 146 Idaho 139, 148 (2008)).

When this Court reviews an alleged abuse of discretion by a trial court the sequence of inquiry requires consideration of *four* essentials. Whether the trial court: (1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion; (3) acted consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (4) reached its decision by the exercise of reason.

Lunneborg v. My Fun Life, 163 Idaho 856, 863 (2018). In this matter, Mr. Allen’s sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum. See I.C. § 37-2732(c)(1) (seven-year maximum). Accordingly, to show that the sentence imposed was an abuse of discretion, Mr. Allen “must show that the sentence, in light of the governing criteria, is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts.” *State v. Strand*, 137 Idaho 457, 460 (2002).

“‘[R]easonableness’” implies that a term of confinement should be tailored to the purposes for which the sentence is imposed.” *State v. Toohill*, 103 Idaho 565, 568 (Ct. App. 1982).

In examining the reasonableness of a sentence, the Court conducts an independent review of the entire record available to the trial court at sentencing, focusing on the objectives of criminal punishment: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public; (3) possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing.

State v. Stevens, 146 Idaho 139, 148 (2008). “A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution.” *State v. Delling*, 152 Idaho 122, 132 (2011).

In this case, Mr. Allen asserts the district court did not exercise reason and therefore abused its discretion by imposing a sentence that is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. Specifically, Mr. Allen contends that the district court should have retained jurisdiction in light of the mitigating factors, including his abusive childhood, community support, mental condition, substance abuse issues and amenability to treatment, and his age.

First, Mr. Allen’s abusive childhood supports a more lenient sentence. The Court of Appeals has recognized that a defendant’s “extremely troubled childhood is a factor that bears consideration at sentencing.” *State v. Williams*, 135 Idaho 618, 620 (Ct. App. 2001). Prior to sentencing, a psychological evaluation was conducted on Mr. Allen by Dr. Chad Sombke. (PSI, pp.140-149.) In that evaluation, Mr. Allen disclosed that he was physically abused by his father as a child. (PSI, p.141.) Due to this abuse, Mr. Allen left his home at the [REDACTED] and began to live on his own.⁴ (PSI, p.141.) According to the Global Appraisal of Individual Needs (“GAIN”) assessment, Mr. Allen began amphetamine use at the [REDACTED] as well.⁵ (PSI, p.152.) Mr. Allen was expelled from school in the eleventh grade after he stopped attending school while he was living on his own.⁶ (PSI, p.141.) Mr. Allen also disclosed that he was

⁴ Mr. Allen indicated that he started working with concrete at the [REDACTED]. (PSI, p.141.)

⁵ In the GAIN assessment, Mr. Allen also “reported first using any alcohol or other drugs at [REDACTED].” (PSI, p.152.)

⁶ Mr. Allen was administered the Rapid Estimate of Adult Literacy in Medicine (REALM) and Shipley-2 tests as part of his psychological evaluation. (PSI, pp.143-44.) The evaluator found that Mr. Allen’s results on the REALM test “places his reading level at the 4th to 6th grade level.” (PSI, p.144.) Mr. Allen scored in the three-percentile range on the Shipley-2 test, which would place his estimated level of intelligence from that test in the “Well Below Average” range. (PSI, p.144.)

molested by a female babysitter when he was young. (PSI, p.141.) Mr. Allen's troubled childhood, as well as its impact on his criminal conduct, is a mitigating factor in support of his request for a rider.

Second, Mr. Allen's community support and work history stand in favor of mitigation. *See State v. Shideler*, 103 Idaho 593, 594–95 (1982) (reducing defendant's sentence upon a finding of family support and good character as mitigation); *State v. Ball*, 149 Idaho 658, 663–64 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding that the district court acknowledged family and friend support as mitigating circumstances); *State v. Mitchell*, 77 Idaho 115, 118 (1955) (recognizing gainful employment as a mitigating factor). Mr. Allen's longtime partner, Iva Harris, prepared a letter for the district court on Mr. Allen's behalf prior to sentencing. (Aug. PSI,⁷ pp.1-2.) In that letter, Ms. Harris explained that Mr. Allen had repaired an old condominium that was owned by a person with polio a few years prior to sentencing in this case. (Aug. PSI, p.2.) According to Ms. Harris, Mr. Allen painted the entire unit, found someone to lay new carpet, replaced the plumbing, and set up a new furnace in the condominium. (Aug. PSI, p.2.) Mr. Allen even gave blood twice a week to obtain the funds that were needed for the repairs. (Aug. PSI, p.2.) Ms. Harris indicated that she would continue to provide support for Mr. Allen in the community. (Aug. PSI, pp.1-2.)

Mr. Allen also has a lengthy work history, including being previously self-employed as a concrete contractor. (PSI, pp.21-22.) According to defense counsel, "Mr. Allen has worked all his life and he has marketable skills. He has long experience in construction and concrete work." (Tr., p.19, Ls.22-24.) Mr. Allen's community support and work history are mitigating factors that support his request for a rider.

⁷ Citations to the "Aug. PSI" refer to the 2-page electronic document included with the supplemental confidential materials titled "Appeal Supplemental Confidential Exhibit."

Third, Mr. Allen's mental condition is a significant mitigating factor that supports leniency in sentencing. The Idaho Supreme Court has recognized that Idaho Code § 19-2523 not only suggests, but requires, the trial court to consider a defendant's mental illness as a sentencing factor. *Hollon v. State*, 132 Idaho 573, 581 (1999). If a defendant's mental condition is a significant factor, then Idaho Code § 19-2523 requires the court to consider factors such as: (a) the extent to which the defendant is mentally ill; (b) the degree of illness or defect and level of functional impairment; (c) the prognosis for improvement or rehabilitation; (d) the availability of treatment and level of care required; (e) any risk of danger which the defendant may create for the public if not incarcerated, or the lack of such risk; and (f) the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct or to conform his or her conduct to the requirements of the law at the time of the offense charged. "The factors listed in Idaho Code § 19-2523 provide a manner in which to evaluate the mental health information presented to the sentencing court." *Strand*, 137 Idaho at 461.

Mr. Allen's mental health was evaluated in the psychological evaluation previously mentioned. (PSI, pp.140-49.) In that evaluation, Dr. Sombke noted that "[i]t is likely that Mr. Allen is experiencing some Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) symptoms from the trauma he has experienced throughout his life." (PSI, p.142.) Dr. Sombke also indicated that Mr. Allen "does appear willing to accept treatment at this time because he frequently stated that he is tired of living this way, but he does not know how to live normally in society the way he is now." (PSI, p.142.) In addition to PTSD, Dr. Sombke found that Mr. Allen could also be considered to have an antisocial personality disorder and that Mr. Allen's functional impairment from both his PTSD and antisocial personality disorder is moderate. (PSI, p.146.) Dr. Sombke indicated that treatment was available in the community for both Mr. Allen's PTSD and

antisocial personality disorder, but that Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing treatment for Mr. Allen's PTSD would likely not be available in an incarcerated setting. (PSI, pp.146-47.) According to Dr. Sombke, Mr. Allen's risk to the community at large would increase without proper treatment of his psychiatric and personality disorder issues. (PSI, p.147.)

During the GAIN assessment, Mr. Allen self-reported symptoms consistent with a diagnosis of Generalized Anxiety Disorder. (PSI, p.154.) Mr. Allen also disclosed that he had been diagnosed with Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) as a child, and that he has continued to have problems due to that disorder. (PSI, pp.150, 154-55.) Based on these provision diagnoses, a mental health examination report was prepared for Mr. Allen pursuant to I.C. § 19-2524. (PSI, pp.161-64.) In that report, the examiner recommended that Mr. Allen receive mental health treatment "to avoid deterioration of function and to monitor for any ongoing risk." (PSI, p.163.) The examiner indicated that, "[w]ithout some form of treatment, it is likely [Mr. Allen] will continue to struggle with symptoms and problems may increase." (PSI, p.163.)

At sentencing, defense counsel indicated that Mr. Allen "does have mental health issues, per his 19-2524 evaluation, and Mr. Allen is at a point and has reached an age where he is ready to deal with these issues that's [*sic*] he's swept under the rug for a lot of years." (Tr., p.19, Ls.9-13.) Mr. Allen's defense counsel further stated that Mr. Allen "acknowledges he needs more structure and accountability when he gets out. He has never been on mental health medications and thinks that that is something that he needs to attempt in order to start putting his life together." (Tr., p.19, Ls.14-18.) Mr. Allen requested that he be given an opportunity for

treatment for his mental health issues in the community and indicated that he had begun making arrangements for that community treatment. (Tr., p.22, Ls.1-13.)

Mr. Allen asserts that the district court did not adequately consider his mental health as a factor at sentencing as required under Idaho Code § 19-2523. Mr. Allen's mental health was a significant factor, and there were substantial concerns listed if Mr. Allen does not receive adequate treatment for his mental health needs. Furthermore, some of the recommended treatment, specifically the Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing program for PTSD, was likely not available for Mr. Allen in an incarcerated setting. "The sentencing court is not required to recite each of the factors listed." *Strand*, 137 Idaho at 461. However, Mr. Allen asserts that the district court did not give adequate consideration to the factors listed under Idaho Code § 19-2523, and the lengthy prison sentence imposed suggests it did not. Mr. Allen's mental condition stands in favor of mitigation and leniency in this case.

Fourth, Mr. Allen's substance abuse issues, the impact of his substance abuse on his behavior, and his need for treatment are strong factors in mitigation. The impact of substance abuse on the defendant's criminal conduct is "a proper consideration in mitigation of punishment upon sentencing." *State v. Osborn*, 102 Idaho 405, 414 n.5 (1981). In his psychological evaluation, Mr. Allen disclosed that he has had a history of abusing alcohol, marijuana, and methamphetamine. (PSI, p.142.) Dr. Sombke found that "Mr. Allen can first be considered to have a serious substance abuse problem. He has been abusing drugs since he was young and he has been unable to maintain his sobriety in the community. His level of functional impairment from his drug abuse is severe." (PSI, p.146.) Dr. Sombke recommended that Mr. Allen receive substance abuse treatment, and he found that Mr. Allen may be amendable to treatment since

Mr. Allen's "insight into his substance use problem is good and he reportedly wants to finally discontinue his drug use." (PSI, pp.146-47.)

In the GAIN assessment, Mr. Allen disclosed that he had been using methamphetamine daily prior to his arrest. (PSI, p.150.) Mr. Allen self-reported symptoms that were sufficient to meet the criteria for amphetamine use disorder severe. (PSI, pp.151-52.) Despite Mr. Allen's near life-long substance abuse issues, the assessor found that Mr. Allen's "responses indicate high motivation for treatment" and Mr. Allen reported that he "is about 100% ready to remain abstinent." (PSI, pp.155-56.) The assessor found that Mr. Allen met the criteria for Level 2.1 Intensive Outpatient Treatment services. (PSI, p.159.)

At sentencing, Mr. Allen requested that the district court give him an opportunity for treatment in the community for his controlled substance issues. (Tr., p.22, Ls.2-7.) Mr. Allen's substance abuse issues and willingness to participate in treatment stands in favor of mitigation and leniency in this case.

Fifth, Mr. Allen's age and physical health issues are a mitigating factor. *See State v. Cobell*, 148 Idaho 349, 356 (Ct. App. 2009) (acknowledging district court's consideration of defendant's old age and health problems as mitigating factors). At the time of sentencing, Mr. Allen was [REDACTED] (*See, e.g.*, PSI, pp.1, 140-41, 150, 161.) In the presentence investigation report from 2017 that was included with the confidential sentencing materials, Mr. Allen disclosed that he had been diagnosed with high blood platelets, atrial fibrillation for his heart, and migraine headaches. (PSI, pp.22-23, 142.) Mr. Allen also reported that he had surgery due to blood pooling in the top of his heart. (PSI, p.23.) Mr. Allen's age and physical health issues stand in favor of mitigation and leniency in this case.

In sum, Mr. Allen maintains the district court did not exercise reason at sentencing because it failed to give adequate weight to the mitigating factors in his case. Proper consideration of these factors supported his request for a rider. Mr. Allen submits that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Allen respectfully requests that this Court reduce his sentences as it deems appropriate. Alternatively, he requests that his case be remanded to the district court for a new sentencing hearing.