Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

3-30-2021

### State v. Allen Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48244

ISSUE

Has Allen failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion by imposing a unified sentence of seven years, with two years fixed, upon his guilty plea to possession of methamphetamine?

ARGUMENT

Allen Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Sentencing Discretion

A. Introduction

After Allen violated the conditions of his parole and absconded supervision, officers arrested him on an outstanding warrant and found a container of methamphetamine on his

person. (PSI, pp. 4-6.<sup>1</sup>) The state charged Allen with possession of methamphetamine and possession of drug paraphernalia. (R., pp. 22-23.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Allen pled guilty to possession of methamphetamine and the state dismissed the remaining charge. (R., pp. 35, 42.) The district court imposed a unified sentence of seven years, with two years fixed. (R., pp. 41-44.) Allen filed a notice of appeal timely from the judgment of conviction. (R., pp. 51-53.)

Allen asserts his sentence is excessive in light of his age [REDACTED] at the time of sentencing), difficult childhood, work history, support from his girlfriend, and his health, mental health, and substance abuse issues. (Appellant’s brief, pp. 3-9.) The record supports the sentence imposed.

#### B. Standard Of Review

Appellate review of a sentence is based on an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Dobbs, 166 Idaho 202, \_\_\_, 457 P.3d 854, 855 (2020) (citation omitted). “Where a sentence is not illegal, the appellant has the burden to show that it is unreasonable and, thus, a clear abuse of discretion.” State v. Schiermeier, 165 Idaho 447, 454, 447 P.3d 895, 902 (2019) (citation omitted). “A sentence fixed within the limits prescribed by the statute will ordinarily not be considered an abuse of discretion by the trial court.” Id. “A sentence of confinement is reasonable if it appears at the time of sentencing that confinement is necessary ‘to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution applicable to the given case.’” Id. (quoting State v. Toohill, 103 Idaho 565, 568, 650 P.2d 707, 710 (Ct. App. 1982)). The district court has the

---

<sup>1</sup> PSI page numbers correspond with the page numbers of the electronic file “Confidential Exhibits Appeal.pdf.”

discretion to weigh those objectives and to give them the weight deemed appropriate. Dobbs, 166 Idaho at \_\_\_, 457 P.3d at 856. “In deference to the trial judge, this Court will not substitute its view of a reasonable sentence where reasonable minds might differ.” State v. Bodenbach, 165 Idaho 577, 591, 448 P.3d 1005, 1019 (2019) (citation omitted).

C. Allen Has Shown No Abuse Of The District Court’s Discretion

Application of these legal standards to the facts of this case shows no abuse of discretion. First, the district court applied the correct legal standards. (Tr., p. 22, Ls. 15-24.) It noted that the instant offense was Allen’s seventh felony conviction and that he had “been in and out” of prison “for decades.” (Tr., p. 23, Ls. 5-7.) The court stated, “[Y]ou keep getting out and thinking you’re going to do the right things and then not.” (Tr., p. 23, Ls. 8-10.) The district court concluded, “Where you are at, given the number of felony convictions, including some that include true victims, it is apparent to the Court you are not suitable at this time for community supervision” and that imposing sentence was therefore “the only reasonable thing to do at this time.” (Tr., p. 23, Ls. 15-22.)

The district court’s decision is supported by the record. Allen has a lengthy criminal history that spans approximately four decades and includes at least 10 misdemeanor convictions, as well as prior felony convictions for possession of a controlled substance, lewd conduct with a minor under the age of 16, unlawful possession of a firearm, grand theft by receiving/possessing stolen property, and two separate convictions for burglary. (PSI, pp. 5-6, 12-16.) Allen “has spent 20 years in prison and he has had a number of parole violations.” (PSI, p. 182.) In 2017, Allen’s parole officer reported that Allen “used meth most of his parole and did not go to treatment ... he’s an old timer with all the same behavior that he’s always had.” (PSI, p. 16.) Allen’s most recent report of parole violation, from February 2020, similarly indicated that he

violated the conditions of his parole with behavior including drug use, failure to attend treatment, and absconding supervision. (PSI, p. 6.)

The psychological evaluator determined that Allen “can be considered a moderate to high risk to the public” and, “compared to other violent offenders, [he] would be considered a High risk to engage in future general violence.” (PSI, p. 185.) The evaluator also advised that Allen “has been abusing drugs since he was young and he has been unable to maintain his sobriety in the community.” (PSI, p. 186.)

Allen’s sentence is appropriate in light of his ongoing disregard for the law and the terms of community supervision, his failure to rehabilitate or to attend treatment while in the community, and the risk he presents to society. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it determined that Allen was not a viable candidate for community supervision and that a unified sentence of seven years, with two years fixed, was necessary to meet the goals of sentencing.

On appeal, Allen argues that his sentence is excessive in light of his health, mental health, and substance abuse issues. (Appellant’s brief, pp. 6-9.) However, Allen reported a 50-year history of substance abuse, for which he has previously been afforded treatment, but he has nevertheless continued to abuse drugs. (PSI, pp. 24-25, 33.) He stated that he was diagnosed with high blood platelets in 2012 and with “A-Fib” in 2014, that he “also had some heart problems in 2013,” and that he has had migraine headaches “for almost 30 years”; yet none of his health issues precluded his continued substance abuse and criminal behavior. (PSI, pp. 23, 182.) Likewise, Allen previously received treatment for his mental health problems from approximately 2013 to 2015, but he chose to discontinue treatment and to instead use illegal drugs. (PSI, pp. 36, 182.)

Allen also argues that his sentence is excessive because he is [REDACTED] and he had a difficult childhood. (Appellant’s brief, pp. 4, 9.) This does not show that the district court abused its discretion, as Allen has had his entire adult life to seek treatment and/or counseling for his issues stemming from childhood, but he has failed to do so. Moreover, that Allen is still committing felony offenses at the [REDACTED] simply shows that he has failed to rehabilitate and continues to present a risk to the community. Allen has failed to establish an abuse of discretion.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm Allen’s conviction and sentence.